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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MTI ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

years ended September 30  Thousands of u.S. 
 Millions of yen  dollars (note 1)

For the year   2005  2006  2006

net sales ¥ 14,757 ¥ 17,443 $ 147,967
operating income   212  902  7,653
ordinary income   129  839  7,124 
Income before income taxes and minority interests   84  1,037  8,803
net income (loss)   (125)  884  7,502
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   (37)  790  6,705

At year-end  Thousands of u.S. 
 Millions of yen  dollars (note 1)

Total assets ¥  9,379 ¥ 9,930 $ 84,239
Total net assets (note 2)   5,675  6,313  53,552 

Per share data    yen  u.S. dollars (note 1)

net income (loss): Primary ¥ (1,763.31) ¥ 10,986.63 $ 93.19
     : Fully diluted    —  10,789.08  91.52
Cash dividends   340.00  1,000.00  8.48
Total net assets (note 3)  70,507.03  78,729.89  667.83

notes: 1. u.S. dollar amounts are calculated at the rate of uS$1=¥117.89, the exchange rate prevailing on September 30, 2006.
 2.   The amount of total net assets at September 30, 2005 represents the value of total shareholders’ equity.
 3.   The amount of total net assets per share at September 30, 2005 represents the value of total shareholders’ equity per share.

NET SALES (Millions of Yen) NET INCOME (LOSS) (Millions of Yen) PRIMARY NET INCOME (LOSS)  
PER SHARE (Yen)

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

11,478 11,020 11,524

14,757 17,443

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

−478
118

1,634

−125

884

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

–7,663
1,888

25,315

–1,763

10,986

Future Forecast disclaimer

The projected MTI results, management 
strategies, and beliefs about the future presented 
in this Annual Report 2006 are based on MTI 
determinations obtained from information 
available at the time of writing. Readers are 
requested to be aware of the potential for a large 
discrepancy between the forecasts contained here 
and actual business results, as these predictions 
contain elements of uncertainty as well as known 
and unknown risks.
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TO OuR SHAREHOLDERS

We are pleased to present our annual report for the year ended September 30, 2006.

 The consolidated results of operations for the year were the highest since the Company’s founding, 

with net sales of ¥17,443 million, operating income of ¥902 million, and ordinary income of ¥839 million.  

The substantial increase in the number of our paying subscribers, primarily for Chaku-uta® (song 

ringtones), was a key to the results.

 We started the conversion of our business structure during the year ended September 30, 2004 to 

achieve our goal of “rapid sales growth and a sustained rise in earnings” based on stock-type businesses. 

With three years elapsed, we successfully and substantially expanded our contents distribution business, 

which comprised one of the core businesses at MTI.

 In addition, we succeeded in gaining a solid position in the music contents distribution market 

during the three years. Now, the divestitures of the mobile terminal business and medical insurance 

telemarketing business have allowed us to pursue a business organization that can focus management 

resources further on growth market segments. This is also an important achievement worth noting.

 Given the above business performance, we decided to increase our cash dividends for the year by 

¥660, to ¥1,000 per share. Through continuous growth in earnings in the future, we will strive to deliver 

further returns to our shareholders. We would like to ask for your continuing and unchanging support.

January 2007

Toshihiro Maeta
President and Ceo



Toshihiro Maeta  
President and Ceo
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     Overview of the Fiscal Year Ended 
September 30, 2006  

Q        what were the Company’s results for the 
year ended September 30, 2006?

A       we seized a growth opportunity timely and 
precisely, and were able to substantially 
increase paying subscribers, principally 
for our Chaku-uta® (song ringtones). we 
attained the highest results for net sales, 
operating income, and ordinary income 
since the founding of the Company.

The number of third-generation (3G) mobile telephones in 
operation grew by 19.35 million in one year between the 
end of September 2005 and September 2006, raising the 3G 
share from 44.5% to 62.5%. Moreover, with the popularity of 
fi xed-rate plans for data communications, demand is growing 
for rich contents, such as music and video, that require 3G 
handset performance in the mobile contents market.
 This market environment led us to conduct active 
promotional campaigns that continued from the prior 
year, to increase the paying subscribers to Chaku-uta® (song 
ringtones), a major service for 3G handsets, and to retain 
our paying subscribers to ringtones, the largest—although 
shrinking—segment of the mobile contents market.
 For Chaku-uta® (song ringtones), we built a system to 
supply the tracks of popular artists continually by virtue 
of collaborative relationships developed over the years 
with the music industry, and by actively running television 
advertising that doubled as promotions for the musicians. 
Consequently, we again succeeded in considerably 
increasing our paying subscribers for the year. 
 For ringtones, the execution of a variety of campaigns 
held reductions in paying subscribers to a minimum. With 
respect to menu rankings at the mobile carrier that are 
vital for attracting users to the site, our site ranked ninth as 

 INTERVIEW WITH

   THE PRESIDENT
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of October 2005, but succeeded in climbing to fi fth place as 
of October 2006 on NTT DoCoMo.
 Our lifestyle information contents including weather 
forecasts, traffi  c information, and maps delved deeper 
to address user needs, and the integration of the latest 
technologies enhanced the attractiveness of such contents. 
Consequently, paying subscribers rose steadily and our menu 
rankings have stayed in the top tier.
 As a result of the foregoing eff orts, our paying subscribers 
as of September 30, 2006 increased by 700,000 over the 
prior year to 4.41 million, and net sales rose to ¥17,443 million 
(up 18.2% over the prior year), the highest fi gure since the  
Company’s founding. Operating income was ¥902 million (up 
325.1%) and ordinary income was ¥839 million (up 548.2%). 
These fi gures were also the highest since the founding of 

the Company.

   
Group Restructuring

 

Q       what kind of restructuring took place within the 
MTI Group?

A     we sold our mobile terminal business and 
medical insurance telemarketing business. 
we can now concentrate our management 
resources on the contents distribution business 
and mobile advertising business (using own 
media) considered capable of rapid sales growth 
and a sustained rise in earnings.

The mobile terminal business previously constituted the 
predominant operations of our Group. Lack of synergy with 
our core contents distribution business, however, led to 

transfer of the operations to AlphaInternational Co., Ltd., a 
subsidiary of Alpha Group Inc., eff ective September 1, 2006.
 The medical insurance telemarketing business previously 
comprised one of our core businesses, but we determined 
that fundamental improvement in earnings would be diffi  cult 
to devise for the operations within our Group. Eff ective 
November 1, 2006, the operations of TM Ltd. (renamed from 
ITSuMO Ltd. on the same day), were transferred to Afl ac 
International Incorporated.
 Accordingly, the MTI Group has realigned the organization 
to allow management resources to concentrate on the principal 
business of contents distribution, and on the mobile advertising 
business with high future growth potential. The active 
development of these business operations will secure the 
establishment of operating platforms with rapid sales growth 
and a sustained rise in earnings.

     Target User Segment

Q         which user segment does the Company target?

A    The user segment targeted by MTI Group 
comprises the keitai (mobile phone) generation, 
or youth segment from 15 to 25 years of age. 
This segment employs the mobile telephone 
throughout the day in all arenas: entertainment, 
home life, and work.

The target user segment of MTI Group comprises youth 
from 15 to 25 years of age. This age bracket actively uses 
the mobile phone in all lifestyle arenas: for music, comics, 
games, shopping, auctions, and directions to destinations, 

1.85

2.60

3.71

4.41

(Millions)

Growth of Paying Subscribers

2003/Sep. 2004/Sep. 2005/Sep. 2006/Sep.

NTT DoCoMo (FOMA) Menu Rankings for Music Contents
2006/Jan. 2006/Apr. 2006/July 2006/Oct. 2007/Jan.

Chaku-uta® (Japanese) 2nd 2nd 2nd 2nd 2nd
Chaku-uta® (Western) Launched April 2006 9th 7th 3rd
Chaku-uta Full® (Japanese) Launched June 2006 3rd 3rd 3rd
Chaku-uta Full® (Western) Launched November 2006 - - 3rd
Ringtones 8th 6th  5th 5th 5th

2006/Jan. 2006/Apr. 2006/July 2006/Oct. 2007/Jan.

Traffic information 1st 1 s t 1 s t 1 s t 1 s t
E-books 3rd 6th 2nd 2nd 2nd
Weather forecast 3rd 2nd 2nd 2nd 2nd
Maps Launched November 2006 - - 2nd

 NTT DoCoMo (FOMA) Menu Rankings for Lifestyle Information Contents

 Full® (Japanese) 
 Full® (Western) 

Ringtones

06/Oct. 2007/Jan.
2nd 2nd 2nd 2nd 2nd

3rd
3rd
3rd
5th

2006/Jan. 2006/Apr. 2006/July 2006/Oct. 2007/Jan.

1 s t
h 2nd 2nd 2nd

d 2nd 2nd 2nd 2nd
 2nd



04

for instance. The mobile telephone is truly indispensable in 
the daily lives of these users, and thus the segment is called 
the keitai generation.
 For example, digital downloads of music in the united 
States and Europe mainly employ the personal computer 
rather than the mobile phone. But in Japan, in typical 
fashion for the user segment described above, the mobile 
phone represents a market and generates downloads 
overwhelmingly greater than the PC for music. Digital music 
distribution has developed into a core off ering of the mobile 
contents market.
 Seeing increases in mobile phone subscribers and in 
usage frequency, we consider the emergence of a powerful 
platform supplanting the mobile telephone in Japan to be 
unlikely. The MTI Group, therefore, predicts that the mobile 
telephone will remain a major platform as it evolves.
 Thus, the keitai generation from 15 to 25 years of age today 
may alter the contents it uses in the future (10 years later means 
when they are 25 to 35 years of age), but we think that the mobile 
phone will continue to fi ll an important role in their daily lives.
 At the same time, because the importance of the mobile 
phone continues to grow, a user segment freshly attaining 15 
years of age joins the keitai generation every year. We believe, 
therefore, that the keitai generation will expand yearly (to 
span, for instance, 15 to 35 years of age after 10 years).
 Taking into account the outlook presented, we have set 
our sights on the emerging keitai generation, in addition 
to the current keitai generation we serve. We will supply 
new services to meet changes in user needs for the current 
generation, and develop and supply services endorsed by 
users of the arriving generation.

  Medium-Term Management Policy 

Q        what is the Company’s medium-term 
management policy?

A        Two core businesses have been confi rmed: the 
contents distribution business and the mobile 
advertising business. By securing a solid, 
top-class position in the industry for major 
categories of mobile services, we will aim to 
become the no. 1 mobile services company.

For the period of three fi scal years from the year ended 
September 30, 2004 to the year ended September 30, 2006, 
identifi ed by us as the second cycle in our founding, the 
MTI Group focused on expanding the contents distribution 
business, which we consider a “stock-style” business, and the 
medical insurance telemarketing business.
 As this three-year period concluded, the MTI Group once 
again reviewed the domains where it could most eff ectively 
apply its strength of creating business models for acquiring 
new customers through unique data analysis techniques.
 Consequently, we positioned the contents distribution 
business, which we have developed actively over the years, 
and the mobile advertising business, which we consider 
promising as a fi eld for future growth, as core businesses 
beginning with the year ending September 30, 2007.
 The former business grows paying membership assets 
through the accumulation of paying members, and the latter 
business enhances media value through the accumulation of 

10 years 
from now

15 to 25 
years of age

15 to 35
 years of age

Target User Segment Evolution

Today

New
keitai

generation

Current
keitai

generation

6,316

310 233 436
870 1,220

7,372

9,081 9,569

10,928
11,294

12,378

(Millions)
Net Sales for Paid Music Downloads (by RIAJ)

Jan.−Mar.
2005

Apr.−June
2005

July−Sep.
2005

Jan.−Mar.
2006

Apr.−June
2006

July−Sep.
2006

Oct.−Dec.
2005

Mobile
Internet

1,1931,264
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non-paying members. Both are “stock-style” businesses that 
maximize the strengths of our Group.
 Specifi cally, we will build solid, top-class positions in the 
industry for major categories of mobile services through 
the following initiatives to achieve rapid sales growth and a 
sustained rise in earnings, and to become the No. 1 mobile 
services company.

✓Contents Distribution Business
Lifestyle information contents principally comprise weather 
forecasting, traffi  c information, maps, and other contents 
immediate to daily life, and tend to aff ord steady growth in 
paying subscribers. These contents are positioned as a stable 
revenue base within the contents distribution business.
 In the future, we expect Global Positioning System (GPS) 
functionality to be standard equipment for 3G and further 
advanced mobile terminals. Accordingly, providing high-
value-added services that interact with GPS is one way to 
supply attractive, high-quality contents across all carriers to 
expand paying subscribers and achieve steady growth—in 
essence, by identifying user needs and the availability of the 
latest technologies.
 As basic policy for music contents, we will aim for even 
further growth in paying subscribers to Chaku-uta® (song 
ringtones), and for survival as the winner in ringtones through 
retention of paying subscribers. We will enlarge net sales in 
music as the core category for our contents distribution business.

 To ensure our top-class position as a comprehensive 
music distribution site, we will actively cultivate the Western 
music and indies genres to enhance the recognition rate and 
value of the “music.jp” brand.
 At the same time, because the digital distribution of music 
will accelerate with the rapid penetration of 3.5G mobile 
terminals going forward, we deem the Chaku-uta Full® market 
for full-length tracks to have the highest growth potential 
ahead. Consequently, we have established a policy of 
investing management resources of the MTI Group intensively 
on Chaku-uta Full® to increase paying subscribers.
 In addition, the population that reads comics (manga) on 
mobile phone terminals is growing, mainly among the youth 
segment. The comics publishing market in Japan is worth 
approximately ¥500 billion, and we think that a certain portion 
of it will shift to electronic media and facilitate a promising 
business in the future. Consequently, we will strive to increase 
paying subscribers to our comics distribution site “comic.jp” 
that launched in September 2006.

✓Mobile Advertising Business
To date, mobile service users have mainly used offi  cial menu 
sites of the carriers (pay contents), but the addition by mobile 
carriers of Yahoo! and Google search portals on the top 
screen eases access to open sites from which services are 
available at no charge. use of these open sites is rising rapidly, 
mainly among younger users. 

Subscriber
(keitai generation)

Subscriber
(keitai generation)

Member registration 
(paid)

Agent for collecting
subscription fees 

The advertising business model cannot work on 
o�cial menu sites, because of advertising restrictions.

Carrier
 (mobile phone company)

Client
(ad sponsor)

Advertising space 

Contents

Contents

Paid subscription model

Advertising revenue model 

MTI 
 (o�cial site) 

MTI 
 (open site) 

Member registration 
(free)

Advertising fee 

Di�erence between Contents Distribution and Mobile Advertising Business

Contents distribution business

Mobile advertising business
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 In parallel with this trend, advertising client companies have 
greatly elevated their evaluation of mobile advertising that 
enables effi  cient appeals to the youth segment for goods and 
services. Clients’ willingness to advertise is rising for such open 
sites that possess assured reliability and high media value. 

 On the other hand, telecom carriers have launched music 
distribution services and developed services such as auction 
sites through alliances with major Internet companies. In a 
series of cases, the carriers have advanced actively from their 
infrastructure businesses into contents service businesses. 
 To meet the changing market environment of expanding 
interest in mobile advertising by clients at a time when open 
sites are gaining popularity, and to develop simultaneously 
an operating base without excessive dependence on mobile 
carriers for revenues, MTI launched its mobile advertising 
business. This off ers users services at no charge by obtaining 
advertising revenues from client companies.
 Launched in April 2006, the open site “Deco Tomo” 
provides materials for decorative e-mail. Registered members 
surpassed two million nine months after launch, and the 
media value of the site is growing. The advertising volume has 
increased proportionately with registered member growth, 
and placements for advertisements from major companies 
(national clients) is increasing.
 We will expand our business operations actively and boldly 
to develop the mobile advertising business as the next pillar of 
operations after contents by leveraging the success we have 
described—through the launch of multiple open sites that 
off er media value and innovative advertising plans to client 
companies, and by reinforcing the advertising sales force for 
the acquisition of national clients.

Net Sales Growth Outlook by Business Operation

FY 2009FY 2008FY 2007

Mobile advertising business (open site) 

Comics (3.5G terminal compatible) 

Chaku-uta Full® (3.5G terminal compatible)

Ringtones and Chaku-uta®

Lifestyle information contents
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Business
 Restructuring

Jan. 4, 2006
Merger with music.jp, inc.

Sep. 1, 2006   
disposal of mobile 
terminal business

Nov. 1, 2006
disposal of 
telemarketing business

TOPICS
Oct.
2005

Jan.
2006

Jan.
2007

Mar. 2006   
launch of “music.jp 
yogaku” (western popular 
music)
distribution of Chaku-uta®
for western popular music 
starts.

June 2006   
launch of “i@music.jp Full”
distribution of full-length 
versions of popular Japanese 
music tracks starts on nTT 
doCoMo (service off ered 
through all major carriers).

Aug. 2006   
launch of “music.jp 
yogaku Full”
distribution of full-length 
versions of popular western 
music tracks starts.

Note:  A portion of the contents provided by the MTI Group is shown. 
Some carriers do not provide the contents shown.

Apr. 2006
launch of “My Car 
navi” as automotive 
navigation 
functionality under 
“doro Kotsu Joho” 
(road and traffi  c 
information) site

Apr. May June July Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec.

1.98

1.56
1.32

1.01

0.67
0.48

0.30
0.180.09

Registered “Deco Tomo” 
Membership Growth
 (Millions of Members)

Sep. 2006  
launch of “comic.jp” site
This comics distribution site 
is considered a promising 
business for the future.

*Decorative e-mail 
The decorative e-mail service can 
trim outbound messages as desired 
with the insertion of animated 
graphics or by changing background 
and text colors and sizes. The service 
is used primarily by young women.

Music Operations
Lifestyle 

Information 
Operations

Sep. 2006   
launch of “Mapple 
Guide navi” at 
“Mapple Guide” site
a new service utilizing 
the Global Positioning 
System (GPS).

Growth Segments

Apr. 2006
launch of “deco Tomo” site
This open site off ers decorative 
e-mail.*  More than two 
million members registered in 
the nine months after the site 
opened.organization that focuses 

management resources on 
the contents distribution 
business is established.

The Company has made 
the contents distribution 
business and mobile 
advertising business its 
core operations.
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Basic Approach to Corporate Governance 
The MTI Group sees as crucial issues in achieving eff ective corporate 
governance, the establishment of transparency and integrity in management, 
building a speedy and accurate decision-making system that responds 
to changes in the business environment, and the reinforcement and 
indoctrination of compliance (lawful conduct).
 With respect to fi nancial reporting and important corporate information, 
we will make timely and appropriate disclosures based on our investor 
relations (IR) policies, elevate transparency in management through discourse 
with our stakeholders, and commit ourselves to the formation of trusting 
relations with the market.
Structure and Implementation Status of Corporate Governance Organization
As its fundamental corporate governance structure, the Company places 
the Board of Directors (which makes important management decisions) and 
the Board of Auditors (comprised of statutory auditors mandated to audit 
the occupational executions by board members) directly below the highest 
decision-making body, which is the General Meeting of Shareholders.
 These bodies are currently constituted and engaged as in the following:

(1 )   Eight internal directors constitute the Board of Directors, and meet monthly 
at regularly scheduled board meetings, and at extraordinary board 
meetings as required. The term of offi  ce for directors is one year, to provide 
an opportunity annually for our shareholders to express their confi dence, 
and to ensure performance in management.

   No outside directors are elected to the board; however, external auditors 
conduct the supervision of board directors, and the Company considers 
the organization to be functioning properly with respect to the oversight 
function for management.

    The introduction of external directors with intimate knowledge of the 
mobile contents industry is under examination for the establishment 
of a more robust management oversight structure. At this time, the 
organization has no outside director elected, because an appropriate 
candidate has not been found.  

(2)  Four auditors constitute the Board of Auditors, three of whom are external 
auditors. Auditors attend board meetings and other important meetings to 
reinforce their oversight function over management. To assess important 
decision-making and execution status of operations among the various 
departments of the Company and companies comprising the MTI Group, 
auditors conduct interviews periodically with the heads of departments 
in the Company, and board members and employees of companies 
within the MTI Group. In addition, the auditors read through important 
documents, such as circulated approval documents for managerial 
decisions.

   The Board of Auditors also exchanges views periodically with the 
Company’s independent auditor, Ernst & Young ShinNihon, in a mutual 
eff ort to share information.

(3)  The Compliance Committee instituted in August 2005 fosters awareness 
regarding the importance of internal corporate information that includes 
personal information, as well as the importance of laws and internal 
regulations; examines and introduces policies; conducts staff  education; 
and audits internally. In short, the committee implements the foregoing 
cycle of compliance in conduct.

(4)  The Internal Controls Offi  ce was introduced in October 2006. The offi  ce 
drives eff orts in internal controls that include improved reliability in 
fi nancial reporting, in preparation for the Financial Products Transaction 
Law (Japanese SOX legislation) to be imposed beginning on April 1, 2008.

(5)  The Corporate Planning Department is engaged in IR activites of the 
Company. IR offi  cers of the department attend meetings as observers 
where important decisions are made, such as board meetings and 
management meetings. The integrated assessment of important 
information of the MTI Group ensures an organizational structure for 
accurate, rapid, fair, and active disclosures.

IR Policies
As part of the reinforcements made to corporate governance, the MTI Group 
has devised the following IR policies to ensure its commitment to transparent 
management and to deliver corporate information fairly, appropriately and in 
a timely manner.
Position of IR Activities
Based on the Company’s recognition that all of its stakeholders, including its 
shareholders and investors (referred to below collectively as “market-related 
parties”), are important partners for development of its business, the MTI 
Group has positioned its IR activities as a vitally important communications 
activity for establishing a relationship of mutual trust between the MTI Group 
and market-related parties, and as one of the most important issues for 
management.
Basic Policies
To establish a relationship of long-term mutual trust with market-related 
parties, the MTI Group will implement its IR activities based on the following 
basic policies.
(1) Accurate and prompt information disclosure
  The MTI Group will provide accurate information to market-related parties 

on a timely basis.
(2) Impartial information disclosure
  The MTI Group will not intentionally and selectively disclose important 

non-public information.
(3) Active information disclosure
  The MTI Group will seek to expand information disclosure in accordance 

with the needs of market-related parties.
(4) Easy-to-understand information disclosure
  The MTI Group will endeavor to disclose information by using easy-to-

understand expressions and diagrams, and utilizing various means to 
convey information.

Information Disclosure Standards
(1)  The MTI Group will disclose information in accordance with the Corporate 

Law, Securities Exchange Law and other laws and regulations as well as the 
“Rules Concerning Timely Disclosure of Company Information by Issuers of 
Listed Securities” prescribed by Jasdaq Securities Exchange, Inc. (referred 
to below as the “timely disclosure rule”).

(2)  The policy of the MTI Group is also to actively and impartially disclose 
information that is not subject to the timely disclosure rule, to the extent 
possible based on appropriate procedures, when such information can 
support the needs of market-related parties.

Information Disclosure Procedures
For information disclosure, as a rule, the MTI Group will disclose information 
using the Timely Disclosure Network system (TDnet). MTI will place the 
information disclosed publicly using TDnet on the Company’s website 
promptly after confi rming release of the information on the Timely Disclosure 
Information Listing Service.
“Quiet Period”
To prevent information that might aff ect the Company’s stock price from 
being leaked during the period when the Company is preparing its fi nancial 
and operating results for disclosure, the MTI Group will invoke a “quiet period” 
immediately prior to disclosure of fi nancial results information, during which 
time it will refrain from responding to comments or questions concerning the 
MTI Group’s fi nancial results and from holding separate meetings and analyst 
briefi ngs. The MTI Group will disclose information during the “quiet period” 
when appropriate, however, if it projects a substantial variance from the 
operating results forecast it has previously released.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

General Meeting of Shareholders

Board of 
Auditors

 (four persons)

Board of 
Directors

 (eight persons)

President and 
CEO

Compliance
Committee

Accounting
Auditors

Appointment/
Dismissal

Appointment/
Dismissal

Operational 
Auditing

Audit

Audit

Appointment/
Dismissal

Management
Meeting

Corporate
Planning
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Internal Controls 
O�ce

Functional
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Auditing
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Five-Year SummarY (Consolidated Basis)
mti ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

 Millions of Yen 

Years ended September 30 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
For the year     

Net sales  ...................................................................... ¥ 11,478 ¥ 11,020 ¥ 11,524 ¥ 14,757 ¥ 17,443
Cost of sales ...............................................................  6,081  6,901  6,077  6,625  6,090
Selling, general and 
       administrative expenses  ...........................  5,337  3,741   5,249  7,918  10,450
Operating income  .................................................  60  377  196  212  902
Non-operating income  ......................................  126   54   26  28  25
Non-operating expenses  ..................................  81   116   193  110  87
Ordinary income  ....................................................  105  315  29  129  839
Extraordinary gains  ...............................................  221   29   3,018   26  410
Extraordinary losses ...............................................  1,209   126   892   70  212
Income (loss) before income taxes  
        and minority interests  ...............................  (882)  218   2,156   84  1,037
Net income (loss)  ...................................................  (478)  118  1,634  (125)  884

At year-end Millions of Yen 

Total assets  .............................................................  ¥ 10,009 ¥ 9,757 ¥ 10,836 ¥ 9,379 ¥ 9,930
Total net assets (Note 1)   ................................   1,522  1,627  3,672  5,675  6,313

Per share data      Yen 

Net income (loss): Primary .............................  ¥ (7,663.48) ¥ 1,888.74 ¥ 25,315.72 ¥ (1,763.31) ¥ 10,986.63
                               : Fully diluted  ..................   —  1,719.16  21,233.35   —  10,789.08
Cash dividends  ....................................................   340.00  340.00  340.00   340.00  1,000.00
Total net assets (Note 2)   ................................   24,366.36  25,991.91  55,557.43   70,507.03  78,729.89

Key financial ratios      % 

Equity ratio ..............................................................   15.2  16.7  33.9  60.5  63.6
Return on equity  ................................................   (27.1)  7.5  61.7  (2.7)  14.8
Return on assets  .................................................   1.1  3.2  0.3  1.3  8.7

 
Number of employees .....................................   187  197  162  223  302

Notes: 1. The amount of total net assets at September 30, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 represents the value of total shareholders’ equity.
 2.  The amount of total net assets per share at September 30, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 represents the value of total shareholders’ equity per share.
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management’S diSCuSSion and analYSiS (Consolidated Basis)
mti ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Business Environment
The mobile telecommunications industry, with which 
the core business operations of the MTI Group are 
associated, has experienced slowing growth in the rate 
of net increase of cumulative subscriber units consisting 
of mobile telephones and Personal Handyphone System 
(PHS) phones, according to the data collected by the 
Telecommunications Carriers Association (TCA). With 
respect to third-generation (3G) mobile handsets, however, 
the number of subscribers increased markedly, by 19.35 
million over the course of one year from September 30, 
2005, to 57.42 million units as of September 30, 2006. This 
increase delivered a rise in the share of 3G handsets to 
62.5% out of all mobile and PHS phones.
 With increasing usage of fixed-rate plans for data 
communications, mobile Internet usage by subscribers in 
the form of web browsing and contents downloading is on 
a growth track. Demand is rising for rich contents—typified 
by music and video—in connection with the penetration of 
3G handsets.

Summary of Net Sales
Net sales for the year ended September 30, 2006 rose 
18.2% year on year to ¥17,443 million. Amid the business 
environment described above, the MTI Group actively 
developed promotions through television advertising, banner 
advertising, and the like to increase paying subscribers to 

Chaku-uta® (song ringtones), considered killer contents for 
3G handsets, and to retain paying subscribers to ringtones, 
which still comprise the largest market segment for mobile 
contents despite recent declines.
 As a result of these efforts, the paying subscriber count 
centered on Chaku-uta® (song ringtones) increased, while 
paying subscribers to ringtones were held to a slight net 
reduction in count. These factors led to an increase in net 
sales, and resulted in the highest sales figures since the 
founding of the Company.

Net Sales by Operating Segment
Contents Distribution Business
Net sales in this segment rose 37.1% year on year to ¥13,593 
million, and as a proportion of total sales increased from 
67.2% to 77.9%.
 As Chaku-uta® (song ringtones) continues its role as 
a killer service for 3G mobile phones, MTI emphasized 
promotions aiming to enhance awareness of the “music.jp” 
site, and acquisitions of popular song tracks.
 For the ringtone market, which is experiencing a 
downtrend, efforts involved numerous campaigns to 
minimize the decline in paying subscribers.
 For lifestyle contents such as weather, traffic information, 
and maps, we refined our understanding of subscriber needs, 
and enhanced the attractiveness of MTI contents with the 
integration of the latest technologies.
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 As a result of these efforts, the number of paying 
subscribers at the end of the fiscal year under review totaled 
4.41 million (an increase of 700,000 subscribers compared to 
the count at September 30, 2005).

Mobile Terminal Business
Net sales in this segment fell 39.1% year on year to ¥2,214 
million, and as a proportion of total sales declined from 
24.7% to 12.7%.
 Because of lacking synergies between this segment and 
the core contents distribution business, MTI sold this business 
to AlphaInternational Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Alpha Group, 
Inc., effective September 1, 2006.

Telemarketing Business
Net sales in this segment rose 40.8% year on year to ¥1,336 
million, and as a proportion of total sales increased from 6.4% 
to 7.7%.
 MTI sought to improve operating efficiencies through 
the reduction of operators in the second half of the fiscal 
year, but the measures did not generate a wholesale 
improvement. Having determined that such improvement 
to profitability would be difficult within the MTI Group, MTI 
transferred the business operations of this segment under 
TM Ltd. (name changed from ITSUMO Ltd. on November 
1, 2006), to Aflac International Incorporated, effective 
November 1, 2006.

Other Business
Other business operations, including the reuse (recycling) 
business for household electronics, personal computers and 
other products, saw a rise in net sales of 18.0% year on year to 
¥298 million.

Income Summary
Cost of sales decreased 8.1% from the previous fiscal year to 
¥6,090 million as a consequence of an increased share for the 
contents distribution and telemarketing businesses that have 
relatively high margins. The ratio to net sales declined by 10.0 
percentage points from the previous fiscal year to 34.9%.
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 
32.0% over the previous fiscal year to ¥10,450 million due 
to aggressive promotions for enlarging Chaku-uta® (song 
ringtones) paying subscribers. The ratio to net sales rose 6.2 
percentage points over the previous fiscal year to 59.9%. The 
above delivered the highest results for operating income 
since the founding of the Company, with a rise of 325.1% over 
the previous fiscal year to ¥902 million.
 The balance of non-operating income (expenses) resulted 
in net non-operating expenses of ¥62 million, compared with 
net non-operating expenses the prior year of ¥82 million, an 
improvement of ¥20 million. This result reflected declines 
in the amortization of bond issuance expenses, interest 
expense and the loss on equity investments in partnerships, 
despite an increase in the loss on investments in affiliates. 
Consequently, ordinary income rose 548.2% to a record-high 
¥839 million.
 The balance of extraordinary gains (losses) resulted in a 
net extraordinary gain of ¥198 million, compared with a net 
extraordinary loss a year earlier of ¥44 million. Extraordinary 
gains included ¥346 million on sales of shares in affiliated 
companies. Extraordinary losses included ¥159 million on 
devaluation of investment securities.
 As a result of the foregoing, net income for the year was 
¥884 million, up from a net loss of ¥125 million in the previous 
fiscal year. Net income per share was ¥10,986.63 for the year, 
and cash dividends per share applicable to the year rose by 
¥660, to ¥1,000.
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9,75710,009
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Financial Condition (Balance Sheets)
At the end of the fiscal year under review, total assets 
amounted to ¥9,930 million, up ¥551 million from the 
previous fiscal year-end.
 With respect to total current assets, repayment of short-
term debt and redemption of corporate bonds led to a 
decline in cash and deposits of ¥523 million compared with 
the end of the previous fiscal year. The rise in trade accounts 
receivable and increase in advances due to the growth in net 
sales resulted in total current assets of ¥7,548 million, up ¥388 
million compared with a year earlier.
 Total noncurrent assets at the end of the year under 
review expanded by ¥167 million in comparison with the end 
of the previous fiscal year, primarily because of an increase in 
investment securities, and stood at ¥2,382 million.
Although accrued expenses rose, total current liabilities 
dropped by ¥71 million compared with the end of the 
previous fiscal year to ¥3,250 million at the end of the year 
under review. This reflected the repayment of short-term debt 
and a decline in corporate bonds redeemable within one year. 
 Total long-term liabilities declined by ¥14 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year to  
¥367 million at the end of the year under review, reflecting a 
decrease in corporate bonds.
 At the end of the fiscal year under review, total net assets 
amounted to ¥6,313 million, an increase of ¥637 million 
compared to the previous year’s total equity of ¥5,675 million. 
As a result, the equity ratio rose to 63.6%, from 60.5% the 
previous year. 

Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year under 
review declined by ¥483 million compared with the end of 
the previous fiscal year, to ¥2,550 million.
 Despite an increase in trade accounts receivable, net 
cash provided by operating activities totaled ¥790 million, 
in contrast to ¥37 million in net cash used the previous fiscal 
year, reflecting an increase in income before income taxes 
and minority interests. 
 Although proceeds from redemption of securities and 
sales of subsidiaries provided a cash inflow in investing 
activities, net cash used in investing activities totaled ¥77 
million (in contrast to ¥889 million in net cash used the 
previous fiscal year). This primarily reflected the purchases of 
intangible assets and investment securities.
 Net cash used in financing activities was ¥1,196 million (in 
contrast to ¥1,836 million in net cash used the previous fiscal 
year), reflecting mainly a decrease in short-term debt and the 
redemption of corporate bonds.
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ConSolidated BalanCe SheetS
mti ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

 Thousands of Yen 

As of September 30   2005 2006 

ASSETS
Current assets
 Cash and deposits (Note 2)  .................................................................................................................................................. ¥ 3,083,515 ¥ 2,560,446 
 Accounts receivable – trade ................................................................................................................................................  3,514,179   4,119,430 
 Securities  .........................................................................................................................................................................................  200,000  —
 Merchandise ..................................................................................................................................................................................  110,851  23,090 
 Supplies  ............................................................................................................................................................................................  2,245   888 
 Advances  .........................................................................................................................................................................................  78,218  443,284 
 Prepaid expenses  .......................................................................................................................................................................  174,899  229,277 
 Consumption taxes receivable  ..........................................................................................................................................  22,592  4,121 
 Deferred tax assets  ....................................................................................................................................................................  93,300  286,725 
 Other current assets  .................................................................................................................................................................  54,735  90,941 
 Allowance for doubtful accounts  ....................................................................................................................................  (174,686)  (209,693)
   Total current assets  ......................................................................................................................................................  7,159,853  7,548,512 

noncurrent assets
 Tangible fixed assets:
 Leasehold improvements  .....................................................................................................................................................  176,060  142,608 
 Accumulated depreciation  ..................................................................................................................................................  (49,030)  (38,431)
 Tools, furniture and fixtures  .................................................................................................................................................  249,291  124,378 
 Accumulated depreciation  ..................................................................................................................................................  (187,383)  (82,919)
   Total tangible fixed assets  ........................................................................................................................................  188,938  145,635 
 Intangible assets:
 Trademark rights  .........................................................................................................................................................................  3,215  2,657 
 Software  ...........................................................................................................................................................................................  379,000  401,921 
 Telephone rights .........................................................................................................................................................................  2,760  2,255 
 Other intangible assets  ..........................................................................................................................................................  7,368  6,696 
  Total intangible assets  .................................................................................................................................................  392,345  413,531 
 Investments and other assets:
 Investment securities (Note 1)  ...........................................................................................................................................  970,347  1,163,692 
 Investments in partnerships ................................................................................................................................................  20   —
 Long-term loans  .........................................................................................................................................................................  1,313  466 
 Guarantee deposits  ..................................................................................................................................................................  50,631  9,608 
 Leasehold deposits  ...................................................................................................................................................................  361,787  310,722 
 Long-term prepaid expenses   ............................................................................................................................................  93,868  10,728 
 Deferred tax assets   ...................................................................................................................................................................  160,529  238,018 
 Other  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................  —  95,000 
 Allowance for doubtful accounts  ....................................................................................................................................  (4,701)  (4,931)
  Total investments and other assets   ...................................................................................................................  1,633,796  1,823,307 
  Total noncurrent assets  ..............................................................................................................................................  2,215,081  2,382,473 

deferred assets
 Bond issuance expenses  .......................................................................................................................................................  4,770   —
  Total deferred assets  ....................................................................................................................................................  4,770   —
TOTAl ASSETS  ............................................................................................................................................................................... ¥ 9,379,706  ¥ 9,930,986 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 Thousands of Yen 

   2005 2006 

lIABIlITIES
Current liabilities
 Accounts payable – trade (Note 2)  ................................................................................................................................. ¥ 1,415,304  ¥ 1,309,317
 Short-term debt (Note 3)  ......................................................................................................................................................  550,000   —
 Corporate bonds redeemable within one year ........................................................................................................  400,000   100,000
 Accounts payable – other  ....................................................................................................................................................  425,306   1,124,402
 Accrued expenses  .....................................................................................................................................................................  86,680   214,346
 Accrued income taxes  ............................................................................................................................................................  277,734   296,442
 Accrued consumption taxes  ...............................................................................................................................................  57,593   83,658
 Advances received  ....................................................................................................................................................................  29,562   29,603
 Deposits received  ......................................................................................................................................................................  75,134   79,429
 Reserve for director bonuses  ..............................................................................................................................................  —   11,125
 Other current liabilities  ...........................................................................................................................................................  4,812   1,850
  Total current liabilities  .................................................................................................................................................  3,322,128   3,250,176

noncurrent liabilities
 Corporate bonds  ........................................................................................................................................................................  250,000   150,000
 Consolidation adjustments ..................................................................................................................................................  131,719   —
 Negative goodwill  .....................................................................................................................................................................  —   122,602
 Other  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................  —   95,000
  Total long-term liabilities  ...........................................................................................................................................  381,719   367,602
  Total liabilities  ...................................................................................................................................................................  3,703,848   3,617,778 

NET ASSETS
I. Shareholders’ equity
 1. Common stock  .......................................................................................................................................................................  2,451,894   2,469,593 
 2. Capital surplus  ........................................................................................................................................................................  4,662,074   4,679,774 
 3. Retained earnings  .................................................................................................................................................................  (917,658)   (60,582)
 4. Treasury stock  ..........................................................................................................................................................................  (521,333)   (775,906)
   Total shareholders’ equity  ........................................................................................................................................  5,674,976   6,312,878 
II. Unrealized gain and translation adjustment
 1. Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities  .................................................................................................  881   329 
  Total unrealized gain and translation adjustment  .....................................................................................  881   329 
  Total net assets  ................................................................................................................................................................  5,675,857   6,313,208 
TOTAl lIABIlITIES AND NET ASSETS  .....................................................................................................................  ¥9,379,706  ¥ 9,930,986
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ConSolidated StatementS oF operationS  
mti ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

 Thousands of Yen 

For the years ended September 30  2005 2006 
Net sales  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................. ¥ 14,757,160 ¥ 17,443,794 
Cost of sales ..........................................................................................................................................................................................................  6,625,913  6,090,669 
 Gross profit  ...................................................................................................................................................................................................  8,131,246  11,353,124 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 1 and 2)  .........................................................................................  7,918,996  10,450,884 
 Operating income   ...................................................................................................................................................................................  212,249  902,239 
Non-operating income
 Interest income ...........................................................................................................................................................................................  2,229  2,346 
 Dividend income  ......................................................................................................................................................................................  737  4,370 
 Amortization of consolidation adjustments   ............................................................................................................................  10,243  —
 Amortization of negative goodwill ..................................................................................................................................................  —  9,117 
 Gain on sales of marketable securities  .........................................................................................................................................  0  —
 Other  ................................................................................................................................................................................................................  15,107   9,656 
     28,318   25,491 
Non-operating expenses
 Interest expense .........................................................................................................................................................................................  30,224  18,116 
 Amortization of bond issuance expenses  ..................................................................................................................................  60,071   4,770 
 Loss on investments in limited partnerships for investment business ........................................................................  11,215   1,020 
 Foreign exchange loss  ...........................................................................................................................................................................  159   101 
 Loss on equity investments in affiliates   ......................................................................................................................................  6,067   58,153 
 Other  ...............................................................................................................................................................................................................  3,260  5,755 
     110,998   87,917 
 Ordinary income  .......................................................................................................................................................................................  129,570   839,814 
Extraordinary gains
 Gain on sales of fixed assets (Note 3) .............................................................................................................................................  —  22,849 
 Gain on sales of investment securities  .........................................................................................................................................  16,316   —
 Gain on sales of shares in affiliated companies  .......................................................................................................................  3,199   346,769 
 Gain on change in equity interest  ...................................................................................................................................................  6,633   39,365 
 Compensation for system failures  ...................................................................................................................................................   —  1,185 
 Store closure guarantees .......................................................................................................................................................................  —  736 
     26,149   410,906 
Extraordinary losses
 Loss on devaluation of inventories  .................................................................................................................................................  1,629   19,238 
 Loss on disposal of inventories ..........................................................................................................................................................  1,807    —
 Loss on disposal of leasehold improvements ...........................................................................................................................  3,774    —
 Loss on disposal of tools, furniture and fixtures .......................................................................................................................  3,849   —
 Loss on sales of tangible assets  ........................................................................................................................................................  35   959 
 Loss on disposal of tangible assets (Note 4)  ..............................................................................................................................  —  24,651 
 Loss on disposal of intangible assets (Note 5)  ..........................................................................................................................  4,674   1,419 
 Loss on sales of investment securities  ..........................................................................................................................................  0   1,305 
 Loss on devaluation of investment securities  ..........................................................................................................................  4,854   159,051 
 Amortization of bond issuance expenses  ..................................................................................................................................  2,887   —
 Long-term debt repayment fee .........................................................................................................................................................  4,183   —
 Loss on redemption of convertible bonds  .................................................................................................................................  38,130   —
 Compensation for system failures ....................................................................................................................................................  4,437  —
 Loss on cancellation of licensing agreement  ...........................................................................................................................  —  5,774 
 Loss on business restructuring (Note 6)  ......................................................................................................................................  525  493
     70,789  212,893 
Income before income taxes and minority interests ..............................................................................................................  84,931  1,037,827 
 Income taxes – current  ..........................................................................................................................................................................  281,564  417,003 
 Income taxes – previous year  ............................................................................................................................................................  —  11,460 
 Income taxes – deferred  .......................................................................................................................................................................  (62,563)  (275,082)
     219,000   153,381 
 Minority interests  ......................................................................................................................................................................................  (9,046)   —
Net income (loss) .............................................................................................................................................................................................. ¥ (125,023) ¥ 884,446 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ConSolidated StatementS oF ChangeS in net aSSetS 
mti ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

  
For the year ended September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

 
Shareholders’ equity

 Unrealized gain and   
  translation adjustment 
         Total 
 Common Capital Retained  Treasury Total  Unrealized gain (loss) net assets 
 stock surplus earnings stock shareholders’  on available-for-sale   
     equity securities

Balance at September 30, 2005 ....................... ¥ 2,451,894 ¥ 4,662,074 ¥ (917,658)  ¥(521,333)  ¥5,674,976  ¥ 881 ¥ 5,675,857
Changes during the fiscal year
 New share issues .............................................  17,699   17,699       35,398     35,398
 Cash dividends  ................................................      (27,370)    (27,370)    (27,370)
 Net income .........................................................      884,446    884,446     884,446
 Acquisition of treasury stock ....................        (254,573)  (254,573)    (254,573)
 Net change in items other 
       than shareholders’ equity....................            (551)  (551)
 Total changes during the fiscal year ........   17,699  17,699  857,076   (254,573)  637,901  (551)  637,350 
Balance at September 30, 2006 ................. ¥ 2,469,593 ¥ 4,679,774 ¥ (60,582) ¥ (775,906) ¥ 6,312,878 ¥ 329 ¥ 6,313,208
  
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  

  
  
For the year ended September 30, 2005 Thousands of Yen

 
Shareholders’ equity

 Unrealized gain and   
  translation adjustment 
         Total 
 Common Capital Retained  Treasury Total  Unrealized gain (loss) net assets 
 stock surplus earnings stock shareholders’  on available-for-sale   
     equity securities

Balance at September 30, 2004 ......................... ¥ 1,117,353 ¥ 3,327,516  ¥ (770,159) ¥ (545) ¥ 3,674,165 ¥ (1,513) ¥ 3,672,651  
Changes during the fiscal year
 New share issues ................................................  1,334,540   1,334,558       2,669,098    2,669,098 
 Cash dividends  ...................................................      (22,475)    (22,475)    (22,475)
 Net Loss ....................................................................      (125,023)    (125,023)    (125,023)
 Acquisition of treasury stock ......................        (520,788)  (520,788)    (520,788)
 Net change in items other 
       than shareholders’ equity .....................            2,394  2,394
Total changes during the fiscal year ...................  1,334,540  1,334,558  (147,499)  (520,788)  2,000,810  2,394   2,003,205 
Balance at September 30, 2005 ..................  ¥ 2,451,894 ¥ 4,662,074 ¥ (917,658) ¥ (521,333) ¥ 5,674,976 ¥ 881 ¥ 5,675,857 
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 Thousands of Yen 

For the years ended September 30  2005 2006 
Cash flows from operating activities
 Income before income taxes and minority interests  ........................................................................................... ¥ 84,931 ¥ 1,037,827 
 Depreciation ...................................................................................................................................................................................  442,664  423,086 
 Bond issuance expenses  .......................................................................................................................................................  62,958  4,770 
 Loss on redemption of convertible bonds  ................................................................................................................  38,130  —
 Amortization of consolidation adjustments  .............................................................................................................  (10,243)  —
 Amortization of negative goodwill ..................................................................................................................................  —  (9,117)
 Allowance for doubtful accounts ......................................................................................................................................  119,851  176,124 
 Interest and dividend income  ............................................................................................................................................  (2,966)  (6,716)
 Interest expense ...........................................................................................................................................................................  30,224  18,116 
 Loss on equity investments in affiliates  .......................................................................................................................  6,067  58,153 
 Net gain on change in equity interest in affiliates  ................................................................................................  (6,633)  (39,365)
 Loss on disposal of intangible assets  .............................................................................................................................  4,674  1,419 
 Gain on sales of shares in affiliated companies  ......................................................................................................  (3,199)  (346,769)
 Gain on sales of investment securities  .........................................................................................................................  (16,316)  1,305 
 Loss on devaluation of investment securities  ..........................................................................................................  4,854  159,051 
 Loss on investments in limited partnerships for investment business  ....................................................  11,215  1,020 
 Increase in accounts receivable – trade ........................................................................................................................  (1,063,913)  (746,138)
 Decrease in merchandise .......................................................................................................................................................  35,984  27,147 
 Decrease in supplies  ................................................................................................................................................................  1,671  1,356 
 Increase in advances  ................................................................................................................................................................  (43,089)  (365,065)
 Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses  ....................................................................................................................  (71,263)  5,657 
 Increase in accounts receivable – other  ......................................................................................................................  (13,158)  (57,282)
 Decrease (increase) in payments for other  ................................................................................................................  (3,083)  22,258 
 Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable – trade  ...........................................................................  440,545  (105,987)
 Increase (decrease) in accounts payable – other  ...................................................................................................  (147,755)  699,096 
 Increase in consumption taxes payable  ......................................................................................................................  42,240  26,064 
 Increase in accrued expenses ..............................................................................................................................................  28,352  132,025 
 Increase (decrease) in advances received ....................................................................................................................  (775)  161 
 Increase in deposits received   ............................................................................................................................................  22,656  6,650 
 Decrease in guarantee deposits  .......................................................................................................................................  23,585  41,023 
 Other  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................  31,241  68,019 
  Subtotal .................................................................................................................................................................................  49,450  1,233,892 
 Interest and dividends received  .......................................................................................................................................  1,824  8,773 
 Interest paid ....................................................................................................................................................................................  (37,714)  (10,625)
 Income taxes paid  .....................................................................................................................................................................  (51,314)  (510,141)
 Refund of income taxes ..........................................................................................................................................................  —  68,592 
   Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  ............................................................................... ¥ (37,754) ¥ 790,492  
  

ConSolidated StatementS oF CaSh FlowS 
mti ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
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 Thousands of Yen 

   2005 2006 
Cash flows from investing activities
 Proceeds from refunds on time deposits  .................................................................................................................... ¥ 10,000  ¥ 40,000
 Proceeds from sales of securities .......................................................................................................................................  100,000   —
 Proceeds from redemption of securities ......................................................................................................................  —   200,000
 Payment for purchases of tangible fixed assets .......................................................................................................  (123,337)   (46,680)
 Payment for purchases of intangible assets  ..............................................................................................................  (387,176)   (408,769)
 Payment for purchases of investment securities  ...................................................................................................  (260,000)   (495,522)
 Proceeds from sales of investment securities  ..........................................................................................................  29,070   1,824 
 Payment for acquisition of shares in affiliated companies  ...............................................................................  (147,553)   (130,000)
 Proceeds from sales of shares in affiliated companies  .......................................................................................  3,200   70,500
 Proceeds from redemption of bonds of an affiliated company ....................................................................  36,000   —
 Proceeds from distribution and redemption of capital of investment partnership  .........................  40,419   186,967
 Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries (Note 2) ..............................................................................................................  —  494,388
 Loans made  ...................................................................................................................................................................................  (2,600)  —
 Collection of loans ......................................................................................................................................................................  1,545  846
 Increase in leasehold deposits  ...........................................................................................................................................  (104,839)  (30,453)
 Other  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................  (84,416)  39,881
  Net cash used in investing activities  ..................................................................................................................  (889,686)  (77,017)

Cash flows from financing activities
 Net decrease in short-term debt  ......................................................................................................................................  (1,050,000)  (550,000)
 Repayment of long-term debt  ..........................................................................................................................................  (240,000)  —
 Redemption of corporate bonds  .....................................................................................................................................  (888,130)  (400,000)
 Proceeds from issuance of shares  ....................................................................................................................................  819,098  35,398 
 Payment for acquisition of treasury stock ...................................................................................................................  (520,788)  (254,573)
 Dividends paid  .............................................................................................................................................................................  (22,475)  (27,370)
 Proceeds from issuance of shares to minority shareholders  ..........................................................................  65,500  —
  Net cash used in financing activities  .................................................................................................................  (1,836,795)  (1,196,544)
decrease in cash and cash equivalents  ..............................................................................................................................  (2,764,236)  (483,069)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  ........................................................................................................  5,870,627  3,033,515 
decrease resulting from elimination of a subsidiary from scope of consolidation  ............................  (89,884)  —
increase resulting from addition of a subsidiary into scope of consolidation  .......................................  17,009  —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 1)  .................................................................................................... ¥ 3,033,515 ¥ 2,550,446 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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noteS to ConSolidated FinanCial StatementS 
mti ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Fiscal 2006 (october 1, 2005 to September 30, 2006)

1. Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of MTI Ltd. (the 
“Company”) and consolidated subsidiaries are prepared on the basis of 
accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, which are different 
in certain respects as to the application and disclosure requirements 
of International Financial Reporting Standards, and are compiled from 
the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Company as 
required by the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan.
 Also, refer to the “Accounting Standards for presentation of net 
assets section of balance sheets” in the “Accounting Changes” below.

2. Scope of Consolidation
(1) The following twelve companies are all consolidated subsidiaries.
 • TELECOM SYSTEM INTERNATIONAL Co., Ltd. (TSI)
 • ITSUMO Ltd. (currently TM Ltd.)
 • cycle HIT Ltd.
 • TeraMobile, Inc.
 • MegaMobile, Inc.
 • MGM Holding Ltd.
 • PicoSoft Co., Ltd.
 • comic.jp., inc.
 • PicoSoft Holding, Inc.
 • music.jp, inc. (new)
 • ITSUMO International Ltd. (currently ITSUMO Ltd.)
 • FIL Corporation
Among them, comic.jp., inc., PicoSoft Holding Co., Ltd., music.jp, 
inc. (new), ITSUMO International Ltd. (currently ITSUMO Ltd.), and FIL 
Corporation were newly established during the current fiscal year, and 
therefore included in the scope of consolidation. PicoSoft Co., Ltd. 
changed from Freechal Japan, Inc. to its current company name on 
December 1, 2005. 
 Alpha Telecom Co, Ltd., which was established on September 1, 2006,  
by means of a division of business, is not included in the scope of 
consolidation because all of its shares were transferred to third parties on 
that same date.
 Two former consolidated subsidiaries, music.jp, inc. (old) and 
cocodes, inc. were merged with the Company during the current fiscal 
year. These companies are not included in the number of consolidated 
subsidiaries given above, but are included as part of the consolidated 
income statement up to the point where they were removed from the 
scope of consolidation.

3. Affiliates Accounted for by the Equity Method
(1)  There are no non-consolidated subsidiaries accounted for by the 

equity method.
(2)  Names and number of affiliates accounted for by the equity method:  

Number of affiliates: 4
 Names of affiliates: BEQONE CAPITAL INC.
  i2ts, inc.
  mobilebook.jp., inc.
  movile, inc.

(3)  Other affiliates outside the scope of the equity method:
 Number of affiliates: 1
 Mobbie.com inc.
  Certain affiliates have been excluded from the application of the 

equity method given the fact that they have only a minor effect 
on consolidated income and retained earnings (accumulated 
deficits) and are of relatively little significance in the context of the 
consolidated financial statements.

(4)  For equity method affiliates whose balance-sheet dates are different 
from those of the parent company, provisional financial statements 
as of the balance-sheet date of the Company are used.

4. Fiscal Year of Consolidated Subsidiaries
The fiscal year-end of all the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries is the 
same date as the consolidation year-end.

5. Significant Accounting Policies
1) Valuation of assets
(1) Securities
  Debt securities to be held to maturity are valued by the amortized 

cost method. Available-for-sale securities with determinable market 
value are stated at fair value based on the market prices on the balance 
sheet date (unrealized gains/losses are directly charged to shareholders’ 
equity, and cost of sales is calculated in principle by the moving-
average method). Securities without determinable market value other 
than held-to-maturity securities are stated at cost by the moving-
average method. Investments in limited partnerships for investment 
business are valued based on the Company’s ownership ratio of net 
assets of the limited partnership in the most recent fiscal year.

(2) Inventories
  Merchandise is stated at the lower-of-cost-or-market by the moving 

average method. Supplies are stated at the last purchase price.
2) Depreciation and amortization
(1) Tangible fixed assets
  The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have adopted the 

declining balance method for the depreciation of tangible fixed 
assets. 

 The principal useful lives of the assets are as follows:
 Leasehold improvements: 15 to 18 years
 Tools, furniture and fixtures: 3 to 10 years
(2) Intangible assets
 Trademark rights:
  The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have adopted the 

straight-line method.
 Software:
  Software for in-house use is amortized by the straight-line method 

over estimated useful life of 2 to 5 years.
(3) Long-term prepaid expenses
  The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have adopted the 

straight-line method.
(4) Deferred assets
  Bond issuance expenses are amortized equally over a period of 

three years.
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3) Reserves
(1) Allowance for doubtful accounts
  The allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for possible losses 

on collection consisting of specific uncollectible receivables and 
general expected losses based on its experience.

(2) Reserve for retirement benefits
  Reserve for the retirement benefit is posted at the amount to be 

paid if all eligible employees retired at the balance-sheet date.

 Change in accounting procedure
  From the current fiscal year, the Company has applied “Partial 

Revision to ‘Accounting Standards for Retirement Benefits’” 
(Corporate Accounting Standard No. 3, March 16, 2005), and 
“Application Guidelines for Partial Revision to ‘Accounting Standards 
for Retirement Benefits’” (Corporate Accounting Standards 
Application Guideline No. 7, March 16, 2005). There is no impact on 
profit or loss as a result of these changes.

(3) Reserve for director bonuses
  A reserve for director bonuses has been established in an amount 

expected to be paid out in the corresponding fiscal year, to provide 
for bonus expenditures to pay bonuses to directors.

4) Foreign exchange translation on assets and liabilities
Foreign currency-denominated monetary claims and obligations are 
translated into Japanese yen at the prevailing exchange rate in effect 
at the balance-sheet date and translation adjustments are charged 
directly to income.
5) leases
Finance leases except for those under which ownership of the leased 
assets is to be transferred to the lessee, are treated as operating leases.
6) Hedge accounting
(1) Methods of hedge accounting
  The Company has adopted authorized accounting treatment for 

interest-rate swaps.
(2)  The Company uses hedging transactions to minimize its exposure 

to interest-rate fluctuation in accordance with internal rules. Hedge 
accounting has been applied to the following financial instruments 
and assets and liabilities being hedged during the current fiscal year. 

 Hedging instruments: Interest-rate swaps 
 Assets and liabilities being hedged: Borrowings
(3) Assessment of hedging effectiveness
  The effectiveness of hedging has been assessed by a comparison 

of the accumulated market value or cash flow fluctuation of assets 
and liabilities being hedged against the corresponding hedging 
instruments.

7) Shareholders’ equity
The new Corporation Law of Japan (the “Law”), which superseded most 
of the provisions of the Commercial Code of Japan, went into effect 
on May 1, 2006. The Law provides that an amount equal to 10% of the 
amount to be distributed as distributions of capital surplus (other than 
the capital reserve) and retained earnings (other than the legal reserve) 
be transferred to the capital reserve and retained earnings (other than 
the legal reserve) be transferred to the capital reserve and the legal 
reserve, respectively, until the sum of the capital reserve and the legal 
reserve equals 25% of the common stock account. Such distributions 
can be made at any time by resolution of the shareholders, or by the 
Board of Directors if certain conditions are met, but neither the capital 
reserve nor legal reserve is available for distributions.

8) Other significant accounting practices
Consumption taxes
(1)  Consumption taxes levied by the governments are excluded from 

the income or expenses.

6. Assets and liabilities Valuation
Assets and liabilities of consolidated subsidiaries if being acquired are 
valued at fair value upon acquisition.

7.  Depreciation Method for Goodwill and Negative 
Goodwill

The periods during which goodwill and negative goodwill will 
have effect on the Company are estimated on an individual basis, 
and amortized in equal amounts once an amortization period is 
established.

8.    Scope of Cash and Cash Equivalents for the 
Statements of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at demand, 
and short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less 
carrying insignificant risk of any fluctuation in market value.

Accounting Changes
Accounting standard for impairment of fixed assets
From the current fiscal year, the Company has applied “Accounting 
Standards for Impairment of Fixed Assets” (“Opinion on Setting of 
Accounting Standards for Impairment of Fixed Assets” (Business 
Accounting Council, August 9, 2002), and “Application Guidelines for 
Accounting Standards for Impairment of Fixed Assets” (Corporate 
Accounting Standards Committee, October 31, 2003, Corporate 
Accounting Standards Application Guideline No. 6). There is no impact 
on profit or loss as a result of these changes.

Accounting standard for director bonuses
The Company formerly accounted for director bonuses with a 
reduction of unappropriated profit by profit appropriation, but from 
the current fiscal year has applied “Accounting Standards for Director 
Bonuses” (Corporate Accounting Standards Committee, November 29, 
2005, Corporate Accounting Standard No. 4). As a result, the reserve 
for directors’ bonuses in selling, general and administrative expenses 
increased by ¥11,125 thousand, while operating income, ordinary 
income and net income decreased by an equal amount.
 For segment information, the full amount of this impact has been 
allocated to the corporate.

Accounting standards for presentation of the net assets 
section of balance sheets
partial revision of accounting standards for reductions of treasury 
stock and reserves
From the current fiscal year, the Company has applied “Accounting 
Standards for Presentation of the Net Assets Section of Balance Sheets” 
(Corporate Accounting Standards Committee, December 9, 2005, 
Corporate Accounting Standard No. 5), and “Application Guidelines 
for Accounting Standards for Presentation of the Net Assets Section 
of Balance Sheets” (Corporate Accounting Standards Committee, 
December 9, 2005, Corporate Accounting Standards Application 
Guideline No. 8), as well as the revised “Accounting Standards for 
Reductions of Treasury Stock and Reserves” (Corporate Accounting 
Standards Committee, Final Revision, December 27, 2005, Corporate 
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Accounting Standard No. 1), and “Application Guidelines for Accounting 
Standards for Reductions of Treasury Stock and Reserves” (Corporate 
Accounting Standards Committee, Final Revision, December 27, 2005, 
Corporate Accounting Standards Application Guideline No. 2).
 There is no impact on profit or loss as a result of these changes.
 In accordance with the revision to the regulations for consolidated 
financial statements, the “net assets” section of the balance sheets for 
the subject consolidated fiscal year have been prepared in accordance 
with the revised regulations for consolidated financial statements.
 In addition, the financial statements for the year ended September 
30, 2005 have been restated to conform to the presentation of the 
financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2006.

Accounting standards for stock options
From the current fiscal year, the Company has applied “Accounting 
Standards for Stock Options” (Corporate Accounting Standards 
Committee, December 27, 2005, Corporate Accounting Standard No. 8), 
and “Application Guidelines for Accounting Standards for Stock 
Options” (Corporate Accounting Standards Committee, December 27, 
2005, Corporate Accounting Standards Application Guideline No. 11).
 There is no impact on profit or loss as a result of these changes.

Accounting standards for separation of businesses
From the current fiscal year, the Company has conducted accounting 
procedures using methods that comply with “Accounting Standards 
for Separation of Businesses” (Corporate Accounting Standards 
Committee, December 27, 2005, Corporate Accounting Standard No. 7), 
and “Application Guidelines for Accounting Standards for Merger of 
Businesses and Accounting Standards for Separation of Businesses” 
(Corporate Accounting Standards Committee, December 27, 2005, 
Corporate Accounting Standards Application Guideline No. 10).  
The impact on profit or loss as a result of these changes is minimal.

Additional Information
Company mergers
1.  The Company, as per the Board of Directors meeting held on 

November 10, 2005, has acquired through merger with its 
consolidated subsidiary music.jp, inc. effective January 4, 2006.

2.  The Company, as per the Board of Directors meeting held on July 19, 
2006, and the Board of Directors meeting held on September 21, 2006, 
has decided to merge with its consolidated subsidiary TELECOM 
SYSTEM INTERNATIONAL Co., Ltd. (TSI) effective January 1, 2007.

(1) Purpose of the merger
  The MTI Group’s core business is contents distribution, a field in 

which the strengths (expertise) shared by Group companies are best 
demonstrated, and the mobile phone handset sales business was 
transferred to AlphaInternational Co., Ltd. on September 1, 2006. 

   Considering the scale of TSI’s business, the Company determined 
that merger with TSI, rather than it remaining a subsidiary, would 
enhance efficiency in terms of business management, and therefore 
decided to merge with TSI.

(2) Overview of the merger
1. Merger schedule
 Board of Directors meeting to approve merger July 19, 2006
 Signing of merger contract July 19, 2006
 Date of merger January 1, 2007
 Registration of merger January 4, 2007
2. Merger method
  Simplified merger method with MTI as the surviving company,  

and TSI dissolved

3. Merger ratio
  MTI held all shares of TSI, so there was no issue of new shares or 

increase in capitalization.
4. Merger payments
 No merger payments were made.
(3) Overview of predecessor company

Notes to Consolidated Balance Sheets
*(1) Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Investment securities  ...............................................................................  ¥534,511

*(2)   Assets pledged as collateral and corresponding liabilities

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Pledged assets
 Cash and deposits  ......................................................................................... ¥10,000
Corresponding liabilities
 Notes and accounts payable – trade ...................................................¥ —

*(3)  The Company has concluded agreements on overdrafts and 
commitments with 7 banks. The unused balance at September 30, 
2006 was as follows:

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Available overdrafts and commitments  .......................................  ¥5,500,000
Used   ....................................................................................................................  —
Unused balance ............................................................................................  5,500,000

*(4) Contingent liabilities
guarantee liabilities:
Mizuho Bank, Ltd.
Trust beneficiary certificate  ...................................................  ¥35,000 thousand

   Predecessor company

 (1) Company name TELECOM SYSTEM INTERNATIONAL Co., Ltd. 
   (TSI)

 (2) Business description Sales of mobile telephones, etc.

 (3) Date of establishment February 25, 1998

 (4) Head office location  Tokyo Opera City Tower 35F  
 3-20-2 Nishi-Shinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo

 (5) Representative Kikuo Amano, President and    
   Representative Director

 (6) Paid-in capital ¥490 million

 (7) Total shares issued 10,300 shares

 (8) Net assets ¥166 million

 (9) Total assets ¥251 million

 (10) Fiscal year-end September 30
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Notes to Consolidated Statements of Operations
*(1)   A breakdown of selling, general and administrative expenses is as 

follows:

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Depreciation and amortization  ....................................................... ¥ 412,735
Directors’ salaries  ......................................................................................  57,246
Reserve for directors’ bonuses  .........................................................  11,125
Wages and benefits  ................................................................................  1,550,796
Expenses for dispatched staff  ...........................................................  1,123,746
Sales commissions  ...................................................................................  6,055
Sales promotion expenses  .................................................................  275,668
Transportation  ............................................................................................  95,798
Payment of commission  ......................................................................  1,661,593
Rent   ..................................................................................................................  421,826
Advertising and public relations  .....................................................  3,422,735
Telecommunications  .............................................................................  153,059
Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts ........................  181,611
 

*(2)  Selling, general and administrative expenses include ¥16,265 
thousand for R&D expenses.

*(3) Breakdown of gain on sale of fixed assets:
  Tools, furniture and fixtures .......................................... ¥ 71 thousand
  Software ....................................................................................  22,778 thousand
  Total  ............................................................................................ ¥ 22,849 thousand
*(4) Breakdown of loss on disposal of tangible assets:
  Leasehold improvements  ............................................. ¥ 13,664 thousand
  Tools, furniture and fixtures  .........................................  10,987 thousand
  Total  ............................................................................................ ¥ 24,651 thousand
*(5) Breakdown of loss on disposal of intangible assets:
  Telephone rights .................................................................. ¥ 212 thousand
  Software ....................................................................................  1,206 thousand
  Total  ............................................................................................ ¥ 1,419 thousand  
*(6)  The Company has also recorded losses related to the closure of 

mobile phone retail outlets.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
For the subject consolidated fiscal year (October 1, 2005 to September 
30, 2006)
1. Shares issued

overview of causes of change
Breakdown of the major causes of increase are as follows:
Increase due to exercise of subscription rights:     2.00 shares
Increase due to exercise of share warrants: 343.00 shares

2. Treasury stock

overview of causes of change
Breakdown of the major causes of increase are as follows:
  Acquisition based on a decision by the Board   

 of Directors in accordance with Article 211-3-1-2  
  of the Commercial Code prior to revision: 656 shares

 Increase due to purchase of odd-lot shares: 1.40 shares

3. Dividends
(1) Dividend payment amounts

(2)  Dividends with a record date in the current fiscal year and effective 
date in the following fiscal year

 
 

Notes to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
*(1)  Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year and 

amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheet 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Cash and deposits  .......................................................................................... ¥ 2,560,446
Time deposits with maturities longer than 3 months ..............  (10,000)
Cash and cash equivalents  ........................................................................ ¥ 2,550,446

*(2)  Breakdown of major assets and liabilities of companies that were 
no longer consolidated subsidiaries due to sale of shares during 
the current fiscal year

In reference to Alpha Telecom Co., Ltd. no longer being a consolidated 
subsidiary due to the sale of its shares, the following is a breakdown 
of major assets and liabilities at the time of sale, sale amounts, and 
proceeds realized from the sale.
 Current assets .............................................................................  ¥ 67,871 thousand
 Fixed assets ..................................................................................   104,720 thousand 
 Current liabilities .......................................................................   (5,853) thousand
 Gain on sales of shares .........................................................   328,000 thousand
 Sale amount of Alpha Telecom Co., Ltd. shares ........   494,738 thousand
 Cash and equivalents of Alpha Telecom Co., Ltd. ....   (350) thousand
 Difference: Proceeds from sale .......................................   494,388 thousand

 Share type Previous fiscal Increase Decrease Subject fiscal
  year-end    year-end

 Common 83,772.91  345.00  — 84,117.91
 stock shares shares  shares

 Share type Previous fiscal Increase Decrease Subject fiscal 
  year-end    year-end

 Common 3,272.31 657.40   — 3,929.71 
 stock shares shares  shares

  Resolution Share type Total dividend Dividend per Record date Effective date   amount share

 General Meeting      
  of Shareholders Common ¥27,370 ¥340.0 September 30, December26, 
  on December 23, stock thousand  2005 2005
 2005 

   Source of Total  Dividend  Record Effective  Resolution Share type dividend funds dividend per share  date date 
    amount
 General Meeting       
 of Shareholders  Common Retained ¥80,188 ¥1,000.0 September December  
 on December 23, stock earnings thousand   30, 2006 25, 2006 
  2006
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leases
1.  Finance lease transactions except for those under the ownership of 

the leased assets are to be transferred to the lessee.
 As a lessee:
(1)  Acquisition cost equivalents for lease properties, accumulated 

depreciation equivalents, accumulated impairment loss equivalents, 
and equivalents at the end of the year

 
As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

 Acquisition cost Accumulated Equivalents 
 equivalents depreciation at the end  
  equivalents of the year

Tools, furniture and fixtures ..........  ¥ 452,483 ¥ 171,472 ¥ 281,011
Software ...................................................   90,353  54,970  35,383
Total   ...........................................................  ¥ 542,837 ¥ 226,442 ¥ 316,395

(2) Outstanding lease commitments as of the end of the year
 Equivalent balance of lease fees payable at end of year 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Within 1 year  .....................................................................................................  ¥ 160,990
Over 1 year  .........................................................................................................   162,097
Total   .......................................................................................................................  ¥ 323,088

(3)  Lease expenses, reversal of impairment on lease assets, depreciation 
equivalent, interest expense equivalent, and impairment loss 

For the year ended September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Lease expenses .................................................................................................  ¥ 142,085
Depreciation equivalent .............................................................................   133,481
Interest expense equivalent .....................................................................   8,974

(4) Method of computing depreciation equivalents
  The straight-line method is adopted, assuming the lease period is 

the same as the useful life and residual value is zero.
(5) Method of computing interest expenses equivalents
  The interest method is applied in allocating the interest equivalent 

over the lease period, assuming that the difference between the 
total lease expenses and the acquisition cost equivalent of the 
leased items is equivalent to the interest expense.

2. Operating lease transactions
 Outstanding lease commitments as of the end of the year: 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Within 1 year  .................................................................................................................. ¥34
Over 1 year  ...................................................................................................................... —
Total  .................................................................................................................................... ¥34

impairment losses
There are no impairment losses allocated to lease assets.

Securities
1. Held-to-maturity debt securities with fair value
 
As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Securities whose fair value Carrying  Estimated Unrealized
exceeds their carrying value value fair value gain (loss)

Government bonds  .......................................  ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —
Corporate bonds  .............................................   —  —  —
Other  .......................................................................   —  —  —
Subtotal.................................................................  ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —

Securities whose carrying value exceeds their fair value
Government bonds  .......................................  ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —
Corporate bonds  .............................................   —  —  —
Other  .......................................................................   —  —  —
Subtotal  .................................................................  ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —
Total   ........................................................................  ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —

2. Available-for-sale securities 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Securities whose carrying value Acquisition Carrying Unrealized
exceeds their acquisition cost cost value gain (loss)   

Equity securities  ...............................................  ¥ 108 ¥ 600 ¥ 491
Bonds  ......................................................................   —  —  —
 Government bonds  ...............................   —  —  —
 Corporate bonds  .....................................   —  —  —
 Other bonds  ...............................................   —  —  —
Other  .......................................................................   —  —  —
Subtotal  .................................................................  ¥ 108 ¥ 600 ¥ 491

Securities whose acquisition cost Acquisition Carrying Unrealized
exceeds their carrying value cost value gain (loss)   

Equity securities............................ ..................  ¥ 248,472 ¥ 248,472 ¥ —
Bonds  .....................................................................   —  —  —
 Government bonds  ..............................   —  —   —
 Corporate bonds  ....................................   —  —  —
 Other bonds  ..............................................   —  —  —
 Other  ..............................................................   —  —  —
 Subtotal  ........................................................   248,472  248,472  —
Total   .......................................................................  ¥ 248,580 ¥ 249,072 ¥ 491

Note:  
The “acquisition cost” in the chart of “securities whose acquisition cost 
exceeds their carrying value” is the book value after application of 
impairment. A valuation loss on available-for-sale securities of ¥109,050 
thousand was recorded during the consolidated current fiscal year 
following application of impairment.
 In the accounting for impairment losses, securities with a market 
value at the end of the period that had declined by more than 50% 
from the acquisition price were fully impaired, while those that fell at a 
rate of between 30% and 50% were impaired by an amount recognized 
as necessary in consideration of the significance of the amount, the 
possibility of recovery, and other factors.
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3. Available-for-sale securities sold during the current fiscal year 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Sales amount ............................................................................................................... ¥ 1,824
Gains on sale  ...............................................................................................................  —
Losses on sale  .............................................................................................................  1,305

4. Non-marketable securities 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Carrying value
Non-listed equity shares  ............................................................................... ¥ 267,791
Corporate bonds  ...............................................................................................  —
Other  .........................................................................................................................  112,225
Total   ........................................................................................................................... ¥ 380,017

Note:
During the current fiscal year, securities were impaired by ¥50,000 
thousand (non-marketable securities classified as “other”).

5.  Expected redemption amount from other available-for-sale 
securities with a maturity date or bonds to be held to maturity 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

  Over 1 year Over 5 years Over Within 1 year and less than and less than 10 years  5 years 10 years

Debt securities 
Government bonds  ............. ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ —
Corporate bonds  ...................  —  —  —  —
Total   ............................................... ¥ — ¥ —  ¥ — ¥ —

Derivatives Transactions
The Company and its subsidiaries do not engage in derivatives 
transactions which are subject to mandatory disclosure. The Company 
has applied the hedge accounting method, which permits accounting 
treatment of its interest-rate swaps.

Retirement Benefits
1. Outline of current retirement benefit systems
  The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have adopted a 

lump-sum payment system at the time of retirement under their 
defined benefit plan.

2. Retirement benefit obligation
 Retirement benefit obligation ........................................................................ ¥ —
 Reserve for retirement benefit ....................................................................... ¥ —
3. Expenses on retirement benefit obligation
 Service expense  ...................................................................................................... ¥ —
 Expense on retirement benefit obligations  .......................................... ¥ —
4.  The Company has adopted a simplified method for the calculation 

of the retirement benefit obligation and for expenses on its 
retirement benefit obligation.

Tax-Effect Accounting
1. Breakdown of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities by item 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

Deferred tax assets
 Allowance for doubtful accounts  .................................................... ¥ 80,623
 Accrued bonuses  .......................................................................................  81,644
 Accrued enterprise taxes  .......................................................................  35,388
 Accounts receivable  .................................................................................  7,581
 Allowance for investment losses  ......................................................  91,575
 Other  ..................................................................................................................  13,006
Deferred tax assets (subtotal)  ....................................................................  309,819
Valuation allowance .........................................................................................  (23,094)
Total deferred tax assets (current) ...........................................................  286,725
 Loss carried forward  .................................................................................  483,613
 Software  ...........................................................................................................  209,376
 Devaluation loss in investment securities  ..................................  171,489
 Other  ..................................................................................................................  12,844
Deferred tax assets (subtotal)  ....................................................................  877,324
Valuation allowance .........................................................................................  (639,105)
Total deferred tax assets (non-current) . ..............................................  238,218
Deferred tax liabilities
 Unrealized loss on available for sale securities  ........................  200
 Total deferred tax liabilities  ..................................................................  200
Net deferred tax assets  .................................................................................. ¥ 524,743

2.  Differences between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate

Statutory tax rate  ............................................................................................... 40.7%
Adjustment
Entertainment expenses and other items not
 deductible permanently  ....................................................................... 0.6 %
Inhabitants’ per capita taxes  ...................................................................... 0.7 %
Gain on sale of affiliated company stock ............................................ (0.1)%
Increase (decrease) in valuation reserve  ............................................. (5.0)%
Amortization of negative goodwill  ....................................................... (0.4)%
Loss on investment in equity-method affiliates  ............................ 2.3 %
Gain on change in equity interest .................................... .....................  (1.5)%
Loss carried forward  ........................................................................................ (19.1)%
Software tax credit, etc.  ................................................................................. (4.0)%
Other  ......................................................................................................................... 0.6 %
Effective tax rate ................................................................................................. 14.8 %
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Stock Options
Fiscal 2006 (October 1, 2005–September 30, 2006)
1. Description, size and changes in stock options
(1) Description of stock options

Note: 1. The exercise period is different depending on whether tax-qualified stock options or nonqualified stock options are chosen.

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 28, 1998 December 22, 2000 December 20, 2002 December 19, 2003 
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution December 28, 1998 January 26, 2001 January 23, 2003 January 26, 2004

 Name of stock option Subscription right No. 1 Subscription right No. 3 Share warrant No. 1 Share warrant No. 3

 Number and qualifications  Company’s director (4) Company’s director (3) Company’s director (5) Company’s director (5) 
 of individuals to be granted Company’s employees (15) Company’s employees (78) Company’s employees (112) Company’s employees (19) 
    Subsidiaries director and  Subsidiaries director (4) 
        Company’s auditors/advisors (13)  Employees (14) 

 Number of shares Common shares: (465) Common shares: (690) Common shares: (919) Common shares: (914)

 Grant date January 7, 1999 January 30, 2001 February 3, 2003 January 30, 2004

 Terms of exercise                            —                            —                            —                            —

 Period of service for eligibility                            —                            —                            —                            —

 Exercise period Decmber 29, 2000– February 1, 2001–  February 3, 2003–  February 1, 2004–September 30, 2009 or 
  September 30, 2008 September 30, 2010 January 31, 2006 February 1, 2006–September 30, 2009 
     (Note 1)

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 19, 2003 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution September 16, 2004 January 21, 2005 January 21, 2005 March 17, 2005

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 4 Share warrant No. 5-1 Share warrant No. 5-2 Share warrant No. 6

 Number and qualifications  External partner (1) Company’s director (6) External partner (1) External partner (1) 
 of individuals to be granted  Company’s employees (61) 
   Subsidiaries director (2) 
   Subsidiaries employees (9)

 Number of shares Common shares: (86) Common shares: (1,199) Common shares: (70) Common shares: (50)

 Grant date September 30, 2004 January 31, 2005 January 31, 2005 March 17, 2005

 Terms of exercise                            —                            —                            —                            —

 Period of service for eligibility                            —                            —                            —                            —

 Exercise period October 1, 2004–  February 1, 2007–  February 1, 2006–  February 1, 2006– 
  September 30, 2009 September 30, 2010 September 30, 2010 September 30, 2010

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 23, 2005 
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution September 15, 2005 September 15, 2005 November 21, 2005 February 17, 2006

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 7-1 Share warrant No. 7-2 Share warrant No. 8 Share warrant No. 9-1

 Number and qualifications  Company’s employees (1) External partner (2) Company’s employees (34) Company’s director (2) 
 of individuals to be granted Subsidiaries director (1)  Subsidiaries director (1) Company’s employees (209) 
    Subsidiaries employees (14) Subsidiaries employees (8)

 Number of shares Common shares: (30) Common shares: (20) Common shares: (131) Common shares: (725)

 Grant date September 30, 2005 September 30, 2005 November 30, 2005 February 28, 2006

 Terms of exercise                           —                           —                           —                           —

 Period of service for eligibility                           —                           —                           —                           —

 Exercise period February 1, 2007– October 1, 2006– December 1, 2007–  March 1, 2008– 
  September 30, 2010 September 30, 2010 September 30, 2010 September 30, 2011

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.
 Resolutions of general meeting December 23, 2005 December 23, 2005  
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution February 17, 2006 March 16, 2006

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 9-2 Share warrant No. 10

 Number and qualifications  External partner (1) External partner (1) 
 of individuals to be granted

 Number of shares Common shares: (5) Common shares: (100)

 Grant date February 28, 2006 March 31, 2006

 Terms of exercise                           —                            —

 Period of service for eligibility                           —                            —

 Exercise period March 1, 2007–September 30, 2011 April 1, 2007–September 30, 2011 
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(2) Size and changes in stock options
 1) Number of stock options 

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 28, 1998 December 22, 2000 December 20, 2002 December 19, 2003  
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution December 28, 1998 January 26, 2001 January 23, 2003 January 26, 2004

 Name of stock option Subscription right No. 1 Subscription right No. 3 Share warrant No. 1 Share warrant No. 3

 Before rights vested    

  At beginning of fiscal year — — — 425

  Issued — — — —

  Invalidated — — — —

  Rights vested — — — 425

  Balance of unvested rights — — — —

 After rights vested 

  At beginning of fiscal year 45 150 331 207

  Rights vested — — — 425

  Rights exercised — 2 142 166

  Invalidated — — 189 1

  Balance of unexercised rights 45 148 — 465

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 19, 2003 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004  
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution September 16, 2004 January 21, 2005 January 21, 2005 March 17, 2005

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 4 Share warrant No. 5-1 Share warrant No. 5-2 Share warrant No. 6

 Before rights vested    

  At beginning of fiscal year — 1,047 70 50

  Issued — — — —

  Invalidated — 51 — 50

  Rights vested — — 70 —

  Balance of unvested rights — 996 — —

 After rights vested    

  At beginning of fiscal year 86 — — —

  Rights vested — — 70 —

  Rights exercised — — 35 —

  Invalidated — — — —

  Balance of unexercised rights 86 — 35 —

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 23, 2005  
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution September 15, 2005 September 15, 2005 November 21, 2005 February 17, 2006

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 7-1 Share warrant No. 7-2 Share warrant No. 8 Share warrant No. 9-1

 Before rights vested    

  At beginning of fiscal year 30 20 — —

  Issued — — 131 725

  Invalidated — — 24 120

  Rights vested — — — —

  Balance of unvested rights 30 20 107 605

  After rights vested    

 At beginning of fiscal year — — — —

  Rights vested — 20 — —

  Rights exercised — — — —

  Invalidated — — — —

  Balance of unexercised rights — 20 — —
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Note: One (1) share warrant is intended for one (1) share of stock.

 2) Unit costs   

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd..

 Resolutions of general meeting December 23, 2005 December 23, 2005 
 of shareholders  

 Corporate resolution February 17, 2006 March 16, 2006

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 9-2 Share warrant No. 10

 Before rights vested  

  At beginning of fiscal year — —

  Issued 5 100

  Invalidated — —

  Rights vested — —

  Balance of unvested rights  5 100

  After rights vested  

 At beginning of fiscal year — —

  Rights ascertained — —

  Rights vested — —

  invalidated — —

  Balance of unexercised rights — —

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 28, 1998 December 22, 2000 December 20, 2002 December 19, 2003 
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution December 28, 1998 January 26, 2001 January 23, 2003 January 26, 2004

 Name of stock option Subscription right No. 1 Subscription right No. 3 Share warrant No. 1 Share warrant No. 3

 Exercise price ¥35,556 ¥373,000 ¥72,000 ¥112,160

 Average share price at time  — ¥473,000.00 ¥422,598.59 ¥438,819.27 
 of exercise

 Equitable assessed unit cost  — — — — 
 on date of grant

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 19, 2003 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution September 16, 2004 January 21, 2005 January 21, 2005 March 17, 2005

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 4 Share warrant No. 5-1 Share warrant No. 5-2 Share warrant No. 6

 Exercise price ¥169,289 ¥166,000 ¥166,000 ¥170,598

 Average share price at time  — — ¥430,000.00 — 
 of exercise

 Equitable assessed unit cost  — — — — 
 on date of grant

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 18, 2004 December 23, 2005 
 of shareholders      

 Corporate resolution September 15, 2005 September 15, 2005 November 21, 2005 February 17, 2006

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 7-1 Share warrant No. 7-2 Share warrant No. 8 Share warrant No. 9-1

 Exercise price ¥290,394 ¥290,394 ¥443,000 ¥457,414

 Average share price at time  — — — — 
 of exercise

 Equitable assessed unit cost  — — — — 
 on date of grant

  Company name MTI Ltd. MTI Ltd.

 Resolutions of general meeting December 23, 2005 December 23, 2005 
 of shareholders   

 Corporate resolution February 17, 2006 March 16, 2006

 Name of stock option Share warrant No. 9-2 Share warrant No. 10

 Exercise price ¥457,414 ¥467,000

 Average share price at time  — —  of exercise

 Equitable assessed unit cost  — — 
 on date of grant
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Notes:
Operating segments and principal products and services in individual 
segments
1.  Classification of operating segments: operating segments have 

been classified based on the nature and type of products, 
manufacturing methods, markets and industries.

2.  Major products by operating segment
  Contents distribution business: Mobile contents distribution, 

network music distribution, etc.
 Mobile terminal business: Sales of mobile phone terminals, etc.
 Telemarketing business: Telemarketing sales of insurance, etc.
 Other business: Purchases and sales of reusable merchandise.
3.  The Company’s mobile phone terminal sales business was 

transferred on September 1, 2006.
4.  Operating expenses not allocable to any business category and 

falling into eliminations and corporate totaled ¥21,118 thousand. 
Most of these represented depreciation in the Administration 
Division.

5.  Total assets included in “eliminations and corporate” amounted to 
¥3,184,187 thousand. This consisted mainly of short-term investment 
of surplus funds (cash equivalents and marketable securities), long-
term investment capital (investment securities), and assets related to 
the Administration Division.

b. Geographical segment information
Current consolidated fiscal year (October 1, 2005–September 30, 2006):
Geographical segment information is not disclosed because the 
Company has no major subsidiaries or branches in countries or regions 
outside Japan and net sales and total assets in Japan represented more 
than 90% of total segment sales and assets.
c. Overseas sales
Current consolidated fiscal year (October 1, 2005–September 30, 2006):
Overseas sales are not disclosed because they are not material (less 
than 10% of total sales).
d. Related party transactions
Current consolidated fiscal year (October 1, 2005–September 30, 2006):
Not applicable

Corporate Mergers
Corporate division and transfer of shares
Business separation of the mobile phone handset sales business

1.  Name of the separated company and content of the separated 
business, principal reasons for the business separation, date of 
separation, and overview of the business separation, including the 
legal form:

(1)  Name of the separated company and content of the separated 
business:

 Alpha Telecom Co., Ltd.
 Sale of mobile phone handsets
(2) Principal reasons for the business separation:
  The MTI Group’s core business is the contents distribution in 

which the strengths (expertise) shared by Group companies are 
best demonstrated. The Company determined that it would be 
difficult for the MTI Group to expand and develop the mobile phone 
handset sales business while it concentrates management resources 
in this core business and expands the business. Under such 
circumstances, while exploring the possibility of a business transfer 
for the handset sales business, management reached the decision 
that transfer of the business to AlphaInternational Co., Ltd., which 
concentrates on the same business, would benefit both parties.

(3) Date of separation:
 September 1, 2006
(4) Overview of the business separation, including the legal form:
  MTI’s mobile phone handset sales business was separated from the 

Company by means of a physical incorporation-type company’s 
division.

2.  In the segment information, the segment in which the separated 
business was included was the mobile terminal business segment.

3.  Estimated amount of income attributable to the separated business 
recorded in the consolidated statement of income for the current 
fiscal year:

 Net sales .......................................................................................¥ 1,749 thousand
 Operating income ................................................................. 74 thousand
 Ordinary income ..................................................................... 74 thousand

Segment Information
a. Segment information by business category 

As of September 30, 2006 Thousands of Yen

 Contents Mobile Telemarketing   Eliminations 
 distribution terminal business Other Total and corporate Consolidated
 business business

I. Sales and operating income
Sales
(1) Sales to external customers  ........................................  ¥ 13,593,776 ¥ 2,214,635 ¥ 1,336,925 ¥ 298,457 ¥ 17,443,794 ¥ — ¥ 17,443,794
(2) Inter-segment sales and transfers ............................   249  140  —  1,103  1,492  (1,492)  —
Total   .................................................................................................   13,594,025  2,214,775  1,336,925  299,560  17,445,286  (1,492)  17,443,794
Operating expenses  ...............................................................   12,538,647  2,132,704  1,533,894  316,681  16,521,927  19,626  16,541,554
Operating income (loss)  ......................................................  ¥ 1,055,378 ¥ 82,070 ¥ (196,969) ¥ (17,120) ¥ 923,358 ¥ (21,118) ¥ 902,239
II. Total assets, depreciation and amortization  
 and capital expenditures
Total assets  ...................................................................................  ¥ 5,539,021 ¥ 356,695 ¥ 542,884 ¥ 425,348 ¥ 6,863,950 ¥ 3,067,035 ¥ 9,930,986
Depreciation and amortization .......................................   381,304  11,025  7,921  1,716  401,967  21,118  423,086

Capital expenditures  ..............................................................   416,440   13,844  10,962  542  441,790  13,660  455,450
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transfer of shares of alpha telecom Co., ltd.
1.  Name of the combined businesses including the subsidiary and 

contents of the combined business, principal reasons for the 
business combination, date of combination, and overview of the 
business combination, including the legal form:  
 (1)  Name of the combined businesses including the subsidiary and 

content of the combined business: 
Alpha Telecom Co., Ltd. 
Sale of mobile phone handsets

 (2)  Principal reasons for the business combination: 
Same as that given for the business separation of the mobile 
phone handset sales business in 1., (2) above

 (3)  Date of combination: 
September 1, 2006

 (4)  Overview of the business combination, including the legal form: 
 All shares of Alpha Telecom Co., Ltd which were wholly owned by 
the Company were transferred to AlphaInternational Co., Ltd.

2. Overview of the accounting treatment applied:
 Transfer of shares

Per Share Data
Net assets per share  ....................................................................¥ 78,729.89
Net income per share  .................................................................  10,986.63
Diluted net income per share  ...............................................  10,789.08

Note:
The following is a reconciliation of basic net income per share to 
diluted net income per share.

Basic net income per share
Net income (¥1,000) .................................................................... ¥ 884,446
Net income not available 
 to common shareholders (¥1,000) ..............................  —
Net income available 
 to common shareholders (¥1,000) ..............................  884,446
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding ....  80,502.05

Diluted net income per share
 Amount of net income adjustment.................  —
Increase in number of common shares ...............  1,474.00 shares
 (of which, convertible bonds) ..............................  (—)
 (of which, subscription rights)  ............................  (73.30 shares)
 (of which, share warrants)  .....................................  (1,400.70 shares)

Summary of potential stock not included in the calculation of diluted 
net income per share since there was no dilutive effect for the current 
fiscal year:

(1) Share warrants
Pursuant to a resolution adopted at the General Meeting of 
Shareholders held on  
 December 18, 2004: Share warrants: 131
 December 23, 2005: Share warrants: 830

Significant Subsequent Events
Corporate separation of consolidated subsidiary and  
transfer of shares
Based on the Board of Directors’ meetings of the Company’s two 
consolidated subsidiaries ITSUMO Ltd. (currently TM Ltd.) and ITSUMO 
International (currently ITSUMO Ltd.), held on September 28, 2006, the 
medical insurance sales business of ITSUMO Ltd. (currently TM Ltd.), was 
transferred to ITSUMO International (currently ITSUMO Ltd.) in the form 
of corporate separation on November 1, 2006, and on the same day, all 
shares in ITSUMO International (currently ITSUMO Ltd.) were transferred to 
Aflac International Incorporated. Details of this transaction are as follows.

1. Business separation of itSumo ltd. (currently tm ltd.)
(1)  Name of separated company, content of the separated business, 

principal reasons for the business separation, date of separation, and 
overview of the business separation, including the legal form:

 a.  Name of separated company and content of the separated business 
Medical insurance telemarketing sales business of ITSUMO Ltd.  
(currently TM Ltd.)

b. Principal reasons for the business separation:
   The MTI Group has focused on medical insurance telemarketing 

sales as one of its core businesses. The Group began the business 
from October 2003, and after three years have passed, the MTI 
Group has recognized that a fundamental improvement in 
profitability for the business is difficult.

     Under such circumstances the Company, while exploring the 
possibility of a business transfer for the medical insurance sales 
business in order to concentrate management resources in the 
Company’s contents distribution business, reached the decision that 
transfer of the business to the Aflac Group, which is strengthening its 
agency support through telemarketing, would benefit both parties.

 c. Date of separation:
  November 1, 2006
 d.  Overview of the business separation, including the legal form: 

ITSUMO Ltd. (currently TM Ltd.) was separated, with ITSUMO 
International (currently ITSUMO Ltd.) as the succeeding company 
through a physical (company split) absorption-type division, 
without approval at the General Meeting of Shareholders as per 
Article 796-1 of the Corporation Law.

(2)  In the segment information, the segment from which the business 
was separated was the telemarketing segment.

(3)  Estimated amount of profit and loss attributable to the separated 
business recorded in the consolidated statement of income for the 
current fiscal year:

 Net sales .............................................................................. ¥ 1,355 million
 Operating income (loss) ............................................  (104) million
 Ordinary income (loss) ...............................................  (113) million

2.  transfer of shares of itSumo international (currently itSumo ltd.)
(1)  Name of the combined businesses including the subsidiary and 

content of the combined business, principal reasons for the business 
combination, date of combination, and overview of the business 
combination, including the legal form:

 a.  Name of the combined businesses including the subsidiary and 
content of the combined business: 
ITSUMO Ltd. (currently TM Ltd.) 
Medical insurance sales business conducted via telemarketing

 b.  Principal reasons for the business combination: 
Same as that given in 1.(1)b. above

 c.  Date of combination: 
November 1, 2006
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 d.  Overview of the business combination, including the legal form: 
All shares in the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary ITSUMO 
International (currently ITSUMO Ltd.) were transferred to Aflac 
International Incorporated.

(2) Overview of the accounting treatment applied:
 Transfer of shares

Significant litigation, etc.
The name of the ringtone site operated by the Company was changed 
to “music.jp torihodai” as of April 2005, but prior to that it was operated 
as “sugomero torihodai.” Since recognizing that the trademark for 
“sugomero” belonged to Kadokawa Group Holdings Inc., the Company 
has held repeated negotiations in good faith to achieve a satisfactory 
settlement.
 However, there is a significant discrepancy between the Company 
and Kadokawa Group Holdings regarding reasonable trademark 
licensing fees, and in March 2006 Kadokawa Group Holdings filed a 
lawsuit to halt infringement of the “sugomero” trademark, and claim 
compensation for damages over its use. The Company insists on its 
propriety against the trademark infringement claimed by Kadokawa 
Group Holdings, and the amount of damage claim.

Amount of damage claim: ¥390 million
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report oF independent auditorS

report of independent auditors

The Board of Directors 

MTI Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MTI Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries as 

of September 30, 2005 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets, 

and cash flows for the years then ended, all expressed in yen. These financial statements are the responsibility 

of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of MTI Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries at September 30, 2005 and 2006, and 

the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

December 26, 2006



33

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE AUDITORS 
As of January 1, 2007

President and Chief Executive 
Officer
Toshihiro Maeta

Director and Senior Executive  
Vice President
Hiroshi Izumi

Director and Executive  
Vice President
Tsuguo Takahashi

Director and Executive  
Vice President
Tadahisa Saito

Director and Senior   
Vice President
Katsura Kawakami

Director and Vice President
Katsunori Osawa

Director
Takehiro Wada

Director
Ryuichi Sasaki

Statutory Auditor
Tsutomu Minoura

Statutory Auditor
Toshitada Kobayashi

Statutory Auditor
Kazuhiro Wada

Statutory Auditor
Kunihiko Yamamoto

CORPORATE HISTORY 
August 1996  • MTI Ltd. was established with capital of ¥90 million to sell mobile phones and provide data communications services.

October 1997 • MTI started voice information contents service.

December 1998 • MTI started contents service along with the launch of “P-mail DX service” by DDI POCKET, Inc.

April 1999  • MTI started contents service along with the launch of “EZ web” by KDDI Corp.

October 1999 • MTI was listed on JASDAQ.

December 1999  • MTI started contents service along with the launch of “J SKY” by J-phone Co., Ltd.

March 2000 • MTI acquired music.co.jp., inc. (later renamed music.jp, inc.)

March 2001 • MTI acquired Telecom System International Co., Ltd.

September 2001 • MTI started contents service for “i-mode” of NTT DoCoMo, Inc.

September 2002 • MTI started sales of insurance through telemarketing.

October 2003  • MTI established TeraMobile, Inc.

September 2004 • MTI sold Card Commerce Service Co., Ltd.

January 2005 • MTI established mobilebook.jp, inc.

March 2005  • MTI acquired ringtone business of TeraMobile, Inc.

May 2005  • MTI established movile, inc., a joint corporation with Tohokushinsha Film Corporation.

January 2006  • MTI merged with music.jp, inc.

September 2006  • MTI transferred its mobile terminal business to AlphaInternational Co., Ltd.

November 2006 • MTI transferred its medical insurance telemarketing business to Aflac International Incorporated.

CORPORATE DATA
As of January 1, 2007

Founded August 12, 1996
Capital ¥2,470 million
Number of Employees 287
Main Businesses
•  Contents distribution business: Mobile contents distribution, 

music downloads, network music distribution, etc.
• Mobile advertising business using own media.

Head Office
35th Floor, Tokyo Opera City Tower  
3-20-2 Nishi-Shinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 163-1435, Japan
MTI Group
comic.jp., inc.  
TeraMobile, Inc.  
movile, inc.  
mobilebook.jp, inc.

All the corporate, product, and service names contained in this annual report are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies.
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